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BUCKLAND:  A VIRGINIA TIME CAPSULE 

 
By David William Blake1 

 
 Visited by Washington, Jefferson, 
Madison, Monroe, Lafayette, Stuart and Lee, the 
town plan of Buckland is a rare example of the 
familiar axial English village pattern.  The main 
house and the town below, extending outward 
from its gate, stand on land that was originally part 
of the Broad Run Tract owned by the family of 
Robert (King) Carter.2  The Carter family operated 
a mill on the property in the early 1770’s and 
conveyed the land to Samuel Love in 1774.  
During the late eighteenth century, Love and his 
four sons Samuel, John, Charles and Augustine 
transformed the property into a vibrant mercantile 
center.  The Loves' development of Buckland 
began with the construction of the main house in 
1774.  The single pile stone residence is 
commonly attributed to architect William 

Buckland but has not been documented.  Beside the existing mill, Love built an assortment of secondary 
structures for production of farm goods at the base of the lane leading to the main house.  In 1775, he 
petitioned the General Assembly to re-route the Old Carolina road so it would run directly to these 
outbuildings and another beyond, to Thoroughfare Gap.  Soon, the distillery, blacksmith, tannery, store and a 
second mill were being frequented by travelers.  Outside merchants arrived, leased adjoining parcels and built 
stores of their own.  By the end of the eighteenth century there were shopkeepers, a tailor, saddle maker, 
wheelwright, boot/shoe manufacturer, cooper, two taverns, an apothecary, church and a woolen factory – the 
essentials of a small town. 
 When Samuel Love died in 1787, John Love inherited the 
main house.  In 1797, by petition to the General Assembly, he laid out 
a grid of lots around the irregular clusters of shops and outbuildings 
described in this document as “upwards of twenty good houses 
occupied by tradesmen and merchants.”  The Virginia General 
Assembly established the “forty-eight lott plan of the Town of 
Buckland in 1798.”  At the same time, John Love and his brothers bred 
horses, operated a stone quarry, farmed on an extensive scale and 
experimented with several varieties of wheat for grinding in their mills.  
They were growing a strand of wheat called the Lawler, which had a 
natural resistance to the Hessian Fly, an insect that devastated the U.S. 
wheat crop during the early nineteenth century.  In a letter from John 
Love to President Madison, Love stated that President Monroe, who 
                                                 
1 David W. Blake, 6342 Pleasant Colony Lane, Warrenton, VA  20817 
2 Buckland appears to fall within the 12,285 acre grant issued to Carter's sons John and Charles, on 18 Sept. 1724.  Northern Neck Grant Book A, 
p. 70. [DLW] 
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had visited Buckland “and who being satisfied from the appearance of the Lawler wheat contrasted with the 
common kinds, that it was not injured by the Hessian Fly, engaged with me (John Love) for 200 bushels for 
himself and would also reserve the same quantity for” Presidents Madison and Jefferson.  John Love also 

corresponded with 
Thomas Jefferson, James 
Monroe, Patrick Henry, 
Andrew Jackson, James 
Cabell and other notables 
about the agricultural and 
political issues of the day. 
 Buckland was 
also known for its horses.  
Beginning in the 1780’s, 
John and Samuel Love 
imported Arabian and fine 
European horses to breed.  
The blood-lines of their 
stallions Mohamet and 
Spread Eagle are listed 
among the origins of the 
modern thoroughbred.  
This operation became 
one of the first large-scale 
breeding farms in 

Virginia.  In 1789, General George Washington bought one of these horses “for his own use.”  He 
corresponded with and introduced the Loves to James McHenry, Secretary of War under President John 
Adams.  The Loves furnished McHenry with a large number of horses for the U.S. Army in 1799. 
 Buckland continued to prosper through the first part of the nineteenth century.  In 1806, newly elected 
Congressman John Love formed the Fauquier-Alexandria Turnpike Company and built a road from the Little 
River Turnpike at Fairfax Courthouse to Buckland.  The company was reorganized in 1821 as the Alexandria-
Warrenton Turnpike Company and it was decided at that time, to extend the road from Buckland to Warrenton.  
Notable French Engineer 
Claudius Crozet was 
engaged to design the 
new thoroughfare.  The 
town trustees and Crozet 
also determined that 
Buckland would be 
improved by building 
the new turnpike through 
the center of town rather 
than at the north end 
where Bridge Street, 
Love Street and the old 
wooden bridge over 
Broad Run had 
accommodated through 
travelers since 1775.  
The project would 
require an area of land 
from the original Plan of the Town the width of one lot from east to west.  Lots 31, 5, 14 and 28 were 
condemned in 1823 and Crozet constructed the new road using a revolutionary process of paving invented by 
John Loudon McAdam.  It was the first road of its type in Virginia.  Crozet also designed Buckland’s stone 
bridge, the first of its type in America, on “the Pike,” as it was locally known.  The bridge abutments of this 

"Army Crossing Run" – A view of Buckland Mill on Broad Run, drawing by Alfred Waud,  
courtesy of the Library of Congress 

 
Buckland Farm 1863 (detail of drawing by Alfred Waud) 
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French design still stand and are visible today from Route 29.  Several new buildings and stores, including the 
Stagecoach Inn, were built beside the new paved road. 
 Between the time of its construction and the Civil War a number of famous figures visited Buckland 
on the Pike.  In 1825, General Lafayette traveled the road on the last leg of his triumphant tour and was 
received by local citizens at the Buckland Tavern.  In 1830, Mrs. Anne Royall, a notoriously critical travel 
writer, followed the road to Buckland.  In her book, “Mrs. Royall’s Southern Tour,” she described the town as 
“a romantic, lively, business-doing village, situated on a rapid, rolling stream…several manufactories are 
propelled by this stream which adds much to the scenery.  Buckland owns the largest distillery I have seen in 
my travels.  The buildings, vats and vessels are quite a show.  There is also flour manufactory here on a very 
extensive scale—this stream is a fund of wealth to the citizens…encompassed with rising grounds and rocks, 
the roaring of the water-falls, and the town stretching up and scattering from the stream to the top of the hills, 
was truly picturesque.”  She further described Buckland as “a real Yankee town for business”—one of her 
kinder reviews.  Constant travel brought new enterprises, such as the Pony Express and William Smith’s 
stagecoach line.  By 1835, Buckland was a thriving stagecoach town complete with its own Post Office and 
Stagecoach Inn.  The local population consisted of one hundred thirty whites and fifty blacks, some of whom 
were freed slaves.  The African-American citizens of Buckland, from the beginning, were skilled laborers who, 
in the late eighteenth century, owned land and slaves of their own.  Rather than assuming the name of another, 
one former slave who must have been proud of his work in the Buckland Distillery, called himself “Ned 
Distiller” and is listed on the 1810 census as freed.  Samuel King of Buckland, freeman of colour, emancipated 
his wife Celia and others in 1811. 

 In 1840, John Love sold Buckland to George Washington’s first cousin and followed his friend 
Andrew Jackson west to Tennessee, with whom he had been involved in Kentucky and Tennessee land 
speculation. Eppa Hunton, of Balls Bluff fame, built a school in Buckland in 1841 and instructed law to the 
sons of Judge John Webb Tyler and others.  In 1853, Temple Mason Washington conveyed Buckland Farm to 
Richard Bland Lee II, son of Congressman Richard Bland Lee of Sully, nephew of “Lighthorse Harry” and 
first cousin of General Robert E. Lee.  Lee obtained the rank of Major in the U.S. Army and was appointed the 
same rank in the Confederate States Army. 
 During the Civil War, Buckland became a prime target due to its mills and proximity to the Warrenton 
Turnpike, which had become a primary route of east-west travel.  The first shots of the Battle of Second 
Manassas were fired on Crozet’s stone bridge in August 1862.  Then, on 19 October 1863 the Confederate 
Cavalry enjoyed its final southern victory at Buckland where it defeated Generals Kilpatrick and George 
Armstrong Custer.  Sometimes referred to as “Custer’s First Stand,” it was Custer’s most serious defeat prior 
to the Battle at Little Big Horn.  After the Confederates recaptured Crozet’s Bridge, they sent the Yankees 

USGS, Thoroughfare Gap, Va., 7.5 minute quad, 1983 ed. (detail) USGS, State of Virginia, scale 1:500,000, 1973 (detail) 
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scrambling on a five-mile steeplechase along the Warrenton Turnpike.  General J.E.B. Stuart humorously 
called the victory “The Buckland Races” as if it had been a glorious foxhunt and later, in his official record 
stated “I am justified in declaring the rout of the enemy at Buckland the most single and complete that any 
cavalry has suffered during the war.”  Recognized as the best of the Civil War sketch artists, Alfred Waud 
documented the battle at Buckland in two sketches.  “Buckland from Mr. Hunton’s House, scene of cavalry 

Buckland, Scene of Cavalry Engagement, by Alfred Waud, courtesy of the Library of Congress   (left view) 

 
 (right view) 
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engagement with Stuart” was engraved for use on the front page of Harper’s Magazine in November 1863.  
Forbes and other artists documented the events at Buckland by sketch and engraving.  General Robert E. Lee 
wrote to General Stuart on the day of the battle at Buckland, “I congratulate you and your officers and your 
men on this handsome success.  The plan was well conceived and skillfully executed.”  On 21 October 1863, 
General Lee must have been pleased to write to his wife with news of victory so late in the war, “We met 
separately and collectively the three Yankee Divisions of Cavalry, Bedford’s Regulars, Gregg’s and 
Kilpatrick’s and whipt them every time!…Gen. Stuart retreated designedly before them toward Warrenton and 
Our Divisions, under Gen. Fitz Lee came up perpendicular to the Pike and cut their column in two.  The 
surprise was complete and we ran them as far as we could see them.  Captured half their ambulances, one 
wagon loaded with ammunitions, one loaded with medical stores and 800 prisoners.”  The Union Army 
suffered 230 casualties and the Buckland Tavern and Church were used as hospitals.   

Richard Bland Lee and his descendants lived at Buckland until 1935.  Mrs. R.B. Lee’s first cousin, 
painter John Singer Sargent, visited Buckland Hall on several occasions during the late nineteenth century and 
painted a rare watercolor of the house in 1887.  He also painted three large oil landscapes of various views of 
the farm.  In 1935, the property was sold to Mitchell Harrison, who hired architect Irwin Fleming for the 
restoration of the main house. 
 The property was later sold to Thomas Mellon Evans, a noted Wall Street financier, philanthropist and 
horse breeder.  Mr. Evans spent the next four decades developing a state-of-the-art thoroughbred farm at 
Buckland, the first in Virginia to be laid out in the Kentucky style.  His championship horses included Pleasant 
Colony, winner of the 1981 Kentucky Derby and Preakness Stakes.  Pleasant Colony died on New Year's Eve 
2002 and was buried at Buckland within sight of the barn where he was foaled. 
 The Town of Buckland, listed on the National Register of Historic Places, remains a rare example of a 
vernacular stagecoach town that represents the early industrialization of America with its mills, factories, 
merchants and tradesmen rather than the grand or high-style, which has been preserved elsewhere, in places 
like Williamsburg.  The Pony Express, stagecoach line and the McAdam turnpike road, that exemplified the 
early transportation system in this country, all converged at Buckland and made it the vibrant place of business 
described by all accounts.  The railroads, steam power and Civil War reconstruction changed this way of life in 
America but bypassed Buckland completely.  Much of the little town that grew from the eighteenth century 
secondary structures survives, remarkably undisturbed by the development and change experienced in other 
places.  An archeological study of the 48-lot Plan of the Town of Buckland is especially exciting, as Buckland 
has lost only four of its original lots to the expansion of Route 29.  The condemnation of those parcels 
occurred in 1824, when the road was extended to Warrenton. This unusual circumstance has left the 
stratigraphy and archeology associated with the remaining 92% of the Town little disturbed since the 
eighteenth century.  Like a time capsule, many of the eighteenth century stone foundations remain in place 
along with the artifacts associated with each parcel.  In preserving this site we have perhaps the best chance at 
demonstrating everyday life in old Virginia, as most of these more modest places have disappeared long ago.  
The present owner of Buckland Hall has formed a non-profit foundation, the Buckland Preservation Society, 
for the purpose of conducting a state-of-the-art investigation and study of the archeology, architecture, cultural 
landscape and historical record of the Town of Buckland.  Our board of directors is devoted to preserving this 
site for the Commonwealth. 
  

Engraving of Waud’s scene of Buckland from Harper's Magazine, Nov. 1863. 
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BUCKLAND, VIRGINIA 
 
 
Recently, I was delighted with the opportunity to walk in the footsteps of 
none other than George Washington, Thomas Jefferson, James Madison, 
Lafayette, Jeb Stuart and Robert E. Lee as I toured the remarkably 
preserved ancient industrial river town of Buckland, Virginia.  For over 
four decades, I have championed the unique value and survival of 
historical places significant to understanding what it means to be an 
American.  So to discover Buckland to be such an architectural and 
archaeological time-capsule surviving literally in the shadow of suburban 
Washington, DC development was particularly encouraging to me.  In my 
opinion, properly protected and researched, Buckland has the unique 
potential to teach generations to come much about American values, 
especially the role of free enterprise, in the development and growth of the 
United States during its founding years between the American Revolution 
and the Civil War Era.  Too often, as at Jamestown, no architectural 
landscape and few documents survive to help tell significant pieces of the 
archaeological part of that story as it does at Buckland. 
 
The preservation and research of Buckland can stand as a prime example 
of how Americana progress and significantly unique historic places can 
co-exist as well.  However, it was also crystal-clear to me that the 
Buckland story is difficult if not impossible to tell amid the incessant roar 
of traffic on the major highway, US Route 29 that intrudes upon it  While 
the construction and expansion of Rt. 29 through the years fortunately has 
only taken a small slice off one end of the town so far, in my personal 
opinion its re-routing and/or down-scaling is essential to allowing 
Buckland to reach its true potential value as a major American historical, 
architectural, and archaeological laboratory/site. 
 
 
William M. Kelso, Ph.D. 
 
APVA Director of Archaeology 
Jamestown Rediscovery 
Preservation Virginia 
12/17/03 
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REVOLUTIONARY WAR AFFIDAVITS 
transcribed & submitted by Ronald R. Turner 

 
Found among the Prince William County Court House 

loose papers and copied as they were written. 
 
Prince William County to Wit. 
 
On this 3rd day of October 1820 personally appeared 
in open Court being a court of record for said county 
Thomas Mahorney aged ninety one resident in said 
county who being first duly sworn according to law 
doth on his oath declare that he served in the 
Revolutionary War as follows, viz In the 2nd VA 
Regiment commanded by Col. Wm. Brent and in the 
Company commanded by Captain Quarles and in the 
Virginia (word not legible) and the number of the 
Certificate as pensioner is 8654 and that his original 
declaration is dated on the 22nd day of May in the 
year 1818 And the said Thomas Mahorney solemnly 
swears that he was a resident Citizen of the United 
States on the 18th day of March 1818, And that he 
has not since that time by gift-sale or in any manner 
disposed of his property or any part thereof with 
intent thereby so to diminish it as to being himself 
within the provisions of an act of Congress entitled 
an act to provide for certain persons engaged in the 
land and naval service of the United States in the 
Revolutionary War, passed on the 18th day of March 
1818, and that I have not nor has any person in trust 
for me any property or securities contracts or debts 
due to me, nor have I any income other than what is 
contained in the schedule hereto annexed and by me 
subscribed. 
 
Schedule of articles of Real or personal estate 
belonging to Thomas Mahorney, necessary clothing 
& bedding excepted – Real property – none, Personal 
property one old Bok – old chairs – 1 old pot – 2 
hoes – the whole estimated to be worth two dollars. 
 
And the said Thos. Mahorney declares that he is a 
planter on a little piece of land not his and is 
rendered unable to pursue it by reason of his age 
infirmity and that his family resides with him are as 
follows – Viz – His wife Mima & his son Jack both 

of which are Slaves, he the said Thomas Mahorney being a free man of Colour who served in the 
war of the revolution – and is now assisted by the labour of his family 
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Thomas Mahorney 
 
(X) his mark 
 
Sworn to and declared in open Court, property valued by this Court in Schedule at $2.00 
 

~ ~ ~ ~ ~ 
 
District of Virginia to wit: 
 
On this 4th day of September One Thousand Eight Hundred and Twenty, personally appeared in 
open court being a court of record for said district and the county of Prince William, John 
Franklin Jr. aged sixty eight years, resident in the aforesaid county and district aforesaid, who 
being first duly sworn according to Law, doth, on his oath declare that he served in the 
Revolutionary War as follows, viz: That he the said John Franklin Jr. enlisted for the term of one 
year, early in September One Thousand Seven Hundred and Seventy Five, in the State of 
Virginia, in the Company commanded by Capt. William Taliaferro, in the regiment commanded 
by Col. William Woodford, in the line of the State of Virginia on the Continental establishment 
that he continued to serve in the said corps until the twenty seventh of August seventeen hundred 
and seventy six, when he was discharged from the said service in Williamsburg in Virginia as 
appears by a certificate of Col. Woodford to the court now here shown that his original 
declaration was made on the twenty third day of September Eighteen Hundred and eighteen. And 
that he has received a pension under the original certificate, the number of which is Two 
Thousand eight hundred and twenty four and that he was in the battles of the Great Bridge when 
Capt. Fordyce was killed. And I do solemnly swear that I was a resident Citizen of the United 
States on the 18th day of March 1818, And that he has not since that time by gift, sale, or in any 
manner disposed of his property or any part thereof with intent thereby so to diminish it as to 
being himself within the provisions of an act of Congress entitled an act to provide for certain 
persons engaged in the land and naval service of the United States in the Revolutionary War, 
passed on the 18th day of March 1818, and that I have not nor has any person in trust for me any 
property or securities contracts or debts due to me, nor have I any income other than what is 
contained in the schedule hereto annexed and by me subscribed. 
 
Schedule of J. Franklin's property: One mare, 12 years old; 1 blind horse 14 years old; 1 cow and 
1 heifer; 2 chests; 1 folding walnut table; 6 common chairs; 1 pine cup-board; 1 dutch oven; 1 
iron pot; 1 cutting axe; 1 person wedges; 1 old hand-saw; 3 augers; 1 skellet; 1 grid iron; 1/2 doz. 
knives and forkes; 1/2 dozen pewder spoons; 1 old saddle; 1 pr. steelyards; 1 plough & gear;  
My family are my wife, Nancy Franklin very infirm and aged 63 years, my daughter, Mary 
Franklin aged 27 years. I am engaged in agriculture, aged and afflicted with disease and not able 
to provide a support for myself, wife and child; my daughter has no trade. 
 
Which property is valued by the court as worth four dollars. sworn to and declared on the 4th day 
of Sept. 1820 before me in open court. 
 
signed, P.D. Dawe 
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INDEX TO AGRICULTURAL SCHEDULE PRINCE WILLIAM COUNTY, VA. 1880 
Lower Half including D=Dumfries, C=Coles, O=Occoquan Districts 

 
(Continued from Vol. 2 No. 4) 

Transcribed by Beverly R. Veness 
 
 The 1880 index to the Agricultural Schedule for Prince William County, Virginia, includes the first eight 
columns out of a total of 100 columns.   
 Column one gives name of the person who conducts the farm.  Specified in the next three columns is if this 
person is the owner, rents for a fixed money rental or rents for shares of the products.  The next four columns reports 
on acres of land.  Under the heading of improved acres, column five is for acres of tilled, including fallow and grass 
in rotation (whether pasture or meadow) and column six is for permanent meadows, permanent pastures, orchards, 
or vineyards.  Under the heading of unimproved acreage: column seven is for acres of woodland and forest and 
column eight reports on other unimproved, including "old fields" not growing wood.  Page numbers and line number 
with their district name abbreviation follows the transcribed columns. 
 Previous indexes to the Agricultural Schedules for Prince William County and a listing of columns for 
1850 can be found in Vol.1, no.1 of Prince William Reliquary.  The 1860 index to the Agricultural Schedule can be 
found in Vol. 1, no. 2. and the 1870 index to the Agricultural Schedule is in Vol. 1, no. 3. 
 [Sources:  Microfilm at Bull Run Regional Library, Virginia: 1880 Agricultural Schedule, National 
Archives Microfilm T-1132,  roll #28; Prince William County Virginia 1880 Census, Alphabetically Arranged 
compiled by Ronald Ray Turner, 1996, and the 1880 census online accessible through the courtesy of The Church of 
Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints at www.familysearch.org] 
 

 
Person Who 

Conducts Farm 

 
 

Tenure 

 
 

Imprv 

 
 

Unimpr 

Page/ 
Line/ 

District 
Abel, Chas F. R Shares 25/- 34?/- 396/2/D 
Abel, Edith R Money 40/- 230/230 397/9/D 
Abel, Fusha R Shares 80/- 200/65 398/3/D 
Abel, Jno. H. Owner 20/- 16/- 397/4/D 
Abel, Levi Owner 9/- 11/- 366/9/C 
Abel, R. S. Owner 25/- 50/50 397/10/D 
Abel, R. T. Owner 5/- -/- 395/9/D 
Abel, Robt Alex Owner 50/- 150/- 370/3/C 
Abel, Walter H. Owner 2/- 10/- 392/2/D 
Abel, Wesley Owner 14/- 33/- 397/2/D 
Abel, William 
Perry 

Owner 2/- 23/- 361/7/C 

Abel, Wm  G. Owner 31?/- 40/- 397/3/D 
Alexander, D. C. Owner 50/150 -/- 383/3/D 
Alexander?, John Owner 60/- 100/100 362/10/C 
Amidon, Daniel Owner 100/5 300/- 397/7/D 
Arington, James R Money 25/- -/- 379/6/C 
Arnold, Benj. Owner 25/- 5/- 374/1/C 
A[r]nold, Bernard ? 20/- 60/- 375/4/C 
A[r]nold, Jas. R Money 5/- -/- 359/4/C 
Arnold, Jesse R Money 10/- 150/- 389/3/D 
Arnold, Robt Alex R Money 30/- 120/- 375/5/C 
Arrington, Albert Owner 50/- 150/- 403/5/O 
Arrington, Charles 
H. 

Owner 50/- 202/- 403/9/O 

Arrington, Francis 
C. 

Owner 25/- 30/- 403/7/O 

Arrington, 
Washburn 

Owner 25/- 75/- 403/4/O 

Arrington, William 
H. 

Owner 2/- 25/- 403/10/O 

Arrington?, Eli S. Owner 23/- 75/- 408/4/O 
Ashby, F.? C. Owner 50/10 400/15 360/2/C 
Atchersen?, John R Money 30/- 200/- 365/2/C 
Atkinson, George 
R.? 

Owner 100?/- 150/50 412/3/O 

 
Person Who 

Conducts Farm 

 
 

Tenure 

 
 

Imprv 

 
 

Unimpr 

Page/ 
Line/ 

District 
Atkinson?, Emma 
R.? 

Owner 10/- 405?/- 399/2/O 

Bailey, Frank Owner 150/6 286/- 387/5/D 
Baily?, Jas. R. Owner 28/- -/- 384/7/D 
Baits, William R Shares 12/- 62/- 394/11/D 
Bangs, Anson Owner 200/- 1500/- 398/2/D 
Barbee, James M. R Money 50/- 22?/- 382/10/C 
Barbee, Jas. M. Owner 150/- 20/- 359/5/C 
Barbee, Jas. M. R Money 100/- 60/- 359/6/C 
Barbee, Jas. M. R Money 110/- 30/- 359/8/C 
Barbee, Jas. M. R Money 75/- 80/- 359/7/C 
Barnes, Eppa Owner 7/- 5/- 372/7/C 
Barnes, Martha Owner 8/- -/- 373/4/C 
Barnes, Thomas Owner 75/- 75/- 377/1/C 
Battes, Febee Owner 22/- 81/- 387/3/D 
Beavers, William 
Thos. 

Owner 30/- 60/- 380/2/C 

Beavers, Harrison Owner 15/- 35/- 381/5/C 
Beavers, John J. Owner 10/- 20/- 360/8/C 
Beavers, Morgan Owner 10/- 25/- 375/9/C 
Beavers, Samuel Owner 12/- 38/- 381/6/C 
Bell, Henry R Shares 35/- 100/- 364/9/C 
Bell, Jas. C.? R Money 20/- 30/- 362/4/C 
Berk, Charles Owner 7/- 3/- 392/7/D 
Berry, Thomas Owner 15/- ?/- 361/3/C 
Berryman, 
William F. 

Owner 30/00 160/- 365/1/C 

Birch, Wm  
Thomas 

Owner 5/- 1/- 373/6/C 

Bland, Edward Owner 15/- 8/- 390/6/D 
Bland, Wesley Owner 8/- 90/- 393/3/D 
Bonghannon, Jas. 
R. 

Owner 21/- 4/- 388/4/D 

Boswell, Mary J. R Shares 12/- -/- 397/6/D 
Bradfield, Basil Owner 25/- 75/- 373/10/C 
Brammell, James 
W. 

Owner 30/- 40/- 411/6/O 
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Person Who 

Conducts Farm 

 
 

Tenure 

 
 

Imprv 

 
 

Unimpr 

Page/ 
Line/ 

District 
Brawner, Basil Owner 100/- 38/- 411/10/O 
Brawner, Elizabeth Owner 30/- 60/100 385/10/D 
Brawner, John R Shares 70/- 70/- 398/10/D 
Brawner, Thomas R Shares 40/- 210/- 389/2/D 
Brawner, Wm  L. Owner 30/- 170/- 367/10/C 
Brenner, William 
T.? 

Owner 35/- 5/- 406/2/O 

Brenner?, 
[unreadable] 

R Shares 74/- 100/- 411/8/O 

Bridwell, Albert Owner -/- 10/- 362/6/C 
Bridwell, 
Haywood 

R Shares 100/- 180/- 363/7/C 

Bridwell, Mary 
Jane 

Owner 75/- 80/20 361/9/C 

Bridwell, Monroe Owner 30/- 5/50 359/2/C 
Bridwell, Peter W. R Shares 60/- 100/- 363/3/C 
Bumbay, Barney Owner 5/- 5/- 403/6/O 
Callender, Edward Owner 75/- 25/- 387/1/D 
Calvert, Sarah Owner 1/- -/- 385/2/D 
Calvert, William Owner 3/- -/- 385/9/D 
Carney, Frank Owner 6/- 2/- 395/2/D 
Carney, Nancy R Money 25/- 150/- 370/5/C 
Carney, Ninim? Owner 30/- 200/20 368/6/C 
Carr, John H. Owner 9/- -/- 406/1/O 
Carter, Andrew R Shares 350?/- 320?/- 382/1/C 
Carter, Daniel Owner 10/- 86/- 376/9/C 
Carter, Henry E. Owner 8/- 50/- 371/8/C 
Carter, Henry Owner 30/- 180/- 371/3/C 
Carter, James Owner 50/- 116/- 365/3/C 
Carter, John H. Owner 15/- 85/- 371/6/C 
Carter, William Owner 2/- 2/- 402/10/O 
Carter?, John Owner 20/- 97/- 395/7/D 
Catoe, Thomas R Money 23/- 5/- 395/8/D 
Chamberlain, 
Oliver 

Owner 50/- 90/- 377/7/C 

Chamberlain,  
Thos. O. 

Owner 20/- 20/- 377/6/C 

Chapman, Jno W. Owner 62/- 115/- 386/10/D 
Chapman, Julia Owner 10/- 125/- 396/3/D 
Chappell, 
Wildman 

Owner 12/- 7/- 373/8/C 

Chesher, George 
P. 

Owner 6/- 48/- 404/8/O 

Chesher, Lyhn Owner 30/- 65/- 366/3/C 
Cheshier, William Owner 25/- 30/- 394/7/D 
Clark, John Owner 125/- 729/- 401/8/O 
Clark, John R Shares 50/- 50/- 387/7/D 
Clark, William R Money 14/- -/- 390/3/D 
Clarke, Thos. Owner 60/- 100/- 378/5/C 
Cofforde, David R Money 150/- -/153 400/5/O 
Cole, Albert R Shares 25/- 10/85 398/9/D 
Cole, Alexander R Shares 50/- 95/- 388/2/D 
Cole, Benj. Owner 30/- 70/- 386/8/D 
Cole, Benje? Owner 30/- 25/- 367/3/C 
Cole, Betsy Owner 50/- 150/- 386/5/D 
Cole, Isekier Owner 32/- 64/- 375/2/C 
Cole, Jas. S. Owner 12/- 40/- 372/2/C 
Cole, Lawrence Owner 150/20 150/50 367/7/C 
Cole, Mary E. Owner? 20/- 60/- 375/3/C 
Cole, S. W. Owner 10/- -/- 360/3/C 
Collinsworth, A. 
Downs 

Owner 50/- 500/- 372/5/C 

Colvert, Edward? Owner 8/- 92/- 404/2/O 
Comstock, Orville Owner 20/- 76/- 377/9/C 
Coon, Albert Owner 30/- 20/- 380/5/C 
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Cooper, Henry Owner 50/- 475/- 373/2/C 
Cooper, Robt R Shares 7/- 2/- 372/9/C 
Cooper, Wm  
Henry 

R Shares 10/- -/- 361/5/C 

Copin, Chas. M. Owner 55/20 195/- 365/7/C 
Cornwell, 
Alexander 

R Money 25/- 25/- 380/4/C 

Cornwell, Edward R Shares 75/-- 325/75 374/2/C 
Cornwell, Geo. T. Owner 7/- 90/- 378/4/C 
Cornwell, Henry R Money 25/- 115/- 381/1/C 
Cornwell, Jas. R. R Shares 25/- 180/- 375/10/C 
Cornwell, John Owner 20/- 5/- 390/7/D 
Cornwell, Lina Owner 25/- 24/- 380/9/C 
Cornwell, 
Montraville 

Owner 4/- 4/- 379/4/C 

Cornwell, Nimrod R Money 10/- 25/15 380/10/C 
Cornwell, Obid Owner 20/- 4/- 373/5/C 
Cornwell, Peter Owner 20/- 32/- 381/2/C 
Cornwell, Richard Owner 13/- 87/- 398/5/D 
Cornwell, Samuel R Money 15/- 100/- 374/4/C 
Cornwell, Wm   R Shares 55?/- 195/- 376/2/C 
Cornwell,     
    John William R Money 25/- 120/- 375/7/C 
Coronell 
[Cornwell?],    
Alfred 

Owner 30/- 90/- 376/1/C 

Curtis?, John Owner 6/- 100/- 390/9/D 
Dane, Jno. H. Owner 80/- 214/- 391/1/D 
Davis, A. J. &     
   Holmes, 
Morrison 

R Shares 22/- 80/- 368/5/C 

Davis, Andrew J. Owner 20/- 40/- 368/4/C 
Davis, Ann Owner 3/- -/- 386/2/D 
Davis, Charles R.? R Shares 30/- 245/- 408/1/O 
Davis, George N. R Shares 94/- 10/- 399/6/O 
Davis, George W. Owner 40/- 34/- 407/7/O 
Davis, Jackson L. Owner 25/- 110/- 386/4/D 
Davis, James R Money 6/- 206/- 387/6/D 
Davis, James R. Owner 60/- 81/- 405/2/O 
Davis, James V.? R Shares 70/- 74/- 408/8/O 
Davis, Jeremiah Owner 10/- 15/- 394/6/D 
Davis, John Owner 6/- 24/- 386/3/D 
Davis, John D. Owner 75/- 121/- 370/6/C 
Davis, John D. R Shares 10/- 54/- 387/2/D 
Davis, John L. or 
S.? 

R Shares 35/- 500/50 365/8/C 

Davis, John W. Owner 100/- 200/- 376/7/C 
Davis, John W. Owner 20/- 80/- 407/2/O 
Davis, Martin Owner 20/- 30/- 381/10/C 
Davis, Mary E. Owner 40/- 60/- 407/8/O 
Davis, Montilla R Money 25/- 85/- 370/2/C 
Davis, Nancy Owner 15/- 100/- 401/10/O 
Davis, Oliver Owner 15/- 98/- 405/1/O 
Davis, R. Simpson Owner 35/- -/25 410/8/O 
Davis, Richard M. Owner 12/- 120/- 407/3/O 
Davis, Richard M. Owner 16/- 82/- 401/9/O 
Davis, Roy L. Owner 120/- 120/- 369/2/C 
Davis, Rufus Owner 8?/- 8?/- 411/4/O 
Davis, Samuel Owner 60/- 22/- 370/7/C 
Davis, William F. Owner 8/- 42/- 408/7/O 
Davis, Wilson Owner 35/- 68/- 381/9/C 
Dewey, Mary E. Owner 50/- 80/- 402/2/O 
Dewitt, Francis M. Owner 30/- 50/- 370/1/C 
Doctor, George Owner 50/- 60?/- 402/3/O 
Dunn, Alex. F. Owner 60/- 58/- 379/5/C 
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Duvall, Andrew J. Owner 70/- 16/- 406/9/O 
Duvall, Henry G.? Owner 25/- 50/- 404/1/O 
Duvall, John D.? Owner 4/- 3/- 406/10/O 
Duvall, William H. 
Jr. 

Owner 6/- -/- 401/2/O 

Duvall, William H. Owner 6/- 6/- 409/8/O 
Emmons, David R Shares 100/- 100/- 409/5/O 
Ennis, Richd P. R Shares 150/- 50/- 385/5/D 
Evans?, Arthur C. Owner 25/- 115/- 367/9/C 
Fair, Chas. Owner 15/- -/- 381/4/C 
Fair, Robert R Money 30/- 35/- 380/7/C 
Fair, William Owner 30/- 150/20 373/3/C 
Fair, William H. Owner 50/- 253/- 410/2/O 
Fairfax, Addison 
S. 

Owner 8?/- 43/- 407/9/O 

Fairfax, Henry R Shares 12/- 90/- 382/3/C 
Fairfax, James W. R Money 140/- 330/- 407/10/O 
Fairfax, Jno. W. Owner 200/- 320/- 389/6/D 
Fairfax, Minor Owner 100/- 118/- 382/5/C 
Fairfax, Thompson Owner 50/- 150/- 407/5/O 
Fawnwick, Mary Owner 12/- 50/- 371/5/C 
Fellows, Barnard Owner 42/- 100/- 379/8/C 
Finch, Alonzo D. Owner 5/- 120/5 362/2/C 
Florence, Benj F. Owner 20/- 110/- 394/8/D 
Florence, Virginia R Money 40/- 10/141 398/8/D 
Florence, Wm  H. Owner 12/- 12/- 372/1/C 
Foukes, Ellen F.? Owner 40/- 60/- 402/6/O 
Fountain, Luthur 
E. 

R Shares 100/- 100/70 359/9/C 

Fox, Sam R Money -/- 100/50 360/1/C 
Frazier, Thomas Owner 35/- 94?/- 398/4/D 
Gaines, William 
H. 

Owner 70/- 290/- 402/5/O 

Garner, Isaih R Money 25/- 175/- 409/2/O 
Garrin, Howard R Money 35/- 15/- 381/3/C 
Garrison, David R Shares 300/- 300/- 390/2/D 
George, Henry T.? R Shares 30/- 10/- 363/2/C 
Glasscock, Burr Owner 100/- 216/- 402/9/O 
Glasscock, 
Mayland 

? -/- -/- 389/5/D 

Godfrey, Chas. Owner 20/- 40/- 372/4/C 
Goods, Margaret 
A. 

R Money 43/- -/- 384/4/D 

Goodwin, Geo. M. Owner 50/- 100/50 359/3/C 
Gosson, Thomas, 
E. 

Owner 2/- 3/- 404/6/O 

Gray, Charles F. R Money -/- -/- 384/1/D 
Gray, James H. Owner 2/- -/- 384/8/D 
Gray, William H. Owner 3/- -/- 384/2/D 
Grayson, Geo. R Shares 60/- 120/- 370/4/C 
Grayson, James R Money 10/- 50/- 368/8/C 
Gregory, William 
B. 

Owner 10/- -/70 411/5/O 

Grigsby, Bettie? 
M.? 

Owner -/- 485/- 410/3/O 

Groves?, William 
H. 

Owner 40/6  44/100 

Guy, Robert Owner 20/- 50/30 386/7/D 
Hammill, Hugh Owner 150/- 350/- 400/8/O 
Hammond, James Owner 15/- 25?/- 396/1/D 
Hampton, John? 
C.? 

R Shares 25/- 175/- 407/6/O 

Harrison, Elias Owner 5/- -/7 400/3/O 
Harrison, William 
H. 

Owner 5/- -/3 400/6/O 
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Hawood, Francis 
Heirs? 

Owner 200/- 1617?/- 410/4/O 

Henderson, Bush R Money 25/- 10/- 390/4/D 
Henderson, Ellen Owner 52/- -/- 390/10/D 
Herndon, Francis 
M. 

Owner 150/20
0 

200/- 361/8/C 

Herndon, George 
W. 

Owner 168/- 23/- 363/4/C 

Herndon, Summer Owner 150/50 50/80 361/10/C 
Herndon, Thos. A. Owner 160/- 40/40 362/1/C 
Holland, Charles 
W. 

Owner 12/- 19/- 406/8/O 

Holland, Henry Owner -/- 31/- 409/1/O 
Holland, Robert R Shares 20/- 153/- 403/1/O 
Holmes, Clinton 
C. 

R Shares 75/12 -/80 363/8/C 

Holmes, Morrison 
& Davis, A. J. 

R Shares 22/- 80/- 368/5/C 

Holmes, Morrison 
C. 

Owner 40/- 70/- 369/6/C 

Holmes, Sp???? R Shares 50/- 63/- 364/1/C 
Holmes, William Owner 17/- -/- 362/9/C 
Horner, John G. Owner 120/- 100/- 400/7/O 
Horton, Mary E. Owner 8/- 42/- 362/3/C 
Horton, Meredith 
W. 

Owner 120/- 25/5 363/1/C 

Horton, Russel E. Owner 50/- 250/- 363/10/C 
Hotchkiss, Keies Owner 50/- 110/- 404/9/O 
Howard, James Owner 7/- 33/- 392/3/D 
Howard, Peter R Shares 3/- 7/- 392/4/D 
Howard, Silas ? 30/- 101/- 405/6/O 
Howesson, Chas. 
G. 

Owner 40/- 120/- 359/10/C 

Hunter, George W. Owner 75/- 55/- 410/6/O 
Hutcherson, Mary Owner 5/- 100/- 393/6/D 
Hutherson, 
William 

Owner 20/- 100/150 393/4/D 

Ishe, Milton A. Owner 150/4 296/- 399/1/O 
Janney, Joseph F.? Owner 30/- 145/- 406/6/O 
Jewell, Eliz? Owner 5/- 200/- 364/4/C 
Jewell, Sarah 
Frances 

Owner 25/- 25/- 365/5/C 

Jewell, Silas Owner? 8/- 17/- 364/7/C 
Jewell, Wm B. Owner 50/- 30/- 362/8/C 
Johnson, Richard R Money 10/- 15/- 395/4/D 
Johnson,     
   Wm  Hawkins? R Money 12?/- 71/- 369/1/C 
Jones, Charles Owner 8/- 67/- 392/6/D 
Jones, Geo. W. Owner 6/- 27/- 366/10/C 
Jones, Lewis E. Owner 10/- 20/- 365/10/C 
Jones, Lewis E. R Money 40/- 62?/- 366/1/C 
Jones, Sherley Owner 15/- 20/- 395/1/D 
Jones, Wm  
Thomas 

R Shares 30/- 70/- 369/8/C 

Joslyn, Lewis? Owner 15/- 34/- 401/6/O 
Kankey, Zubulen 
A. 

Owner 80/- 50/- 412/1/O 

Kendel, George R Shares 8/- 50/- 394/1/D 
Key, Thomas R Money 6/- 100/- 367/2/C 
Keys, Charles Owner 2/- 8/- 372/10/C 
Keys, Elizabeth Owner 25/- 57/20 374/8/C 
Keys, Henry A. Owner 15/- 80/- 374/7/C 
Keys, M. J. R Shares 50/2 93/- 385/7/D 
Keys, Magenda Owner 20/- 176/- 395/3/D 
Keys, Nancy Owner 30/- 100/30 366/4/C 
Keys, Thomas R Money 20/- 30/- 367/8/C 
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Keys, William Owner 35/- 65/- 371/1/C 
Kimdall?, Edward R Money 3/- 47/- 409/7/O 
Kincheloe,      
   John S.or L. R Money 20/- 100/- 372/6/C 
Kincheloe, Nancy Owner 25/- 25/- 376/5/C 
Kincheloe, 
Thomas 

R Money 20/- 180/- 389/1/D 

Kincheloe, 
William 

R Money 25/- 450/- 390/1/D 

King, Alice Owner 8/- 2/- 381/7/C 
King, Samuel T. Owner 25/- 55/- 375/8/C 
Kirby, Jno. H. Owner 100/- 130/- 361/2/C 
Ledman, Lycurgus Owner 35/- 63/62 404/7/O 
Lee, James R Shares 25/- 30/45 365/9/C 
Liming, Jno. Owner 25/- 166/- 395/10/D 
Liming, Lewis Owner 50?/- 150/- 395/6/D 
Lindsly, M. S. Owner 75/- 30/- 386/6/D 
Long, George R Money 25/- 75/- 388/3/D 
Lowe, George R Shares 30/-? 90/- 375/1/C 
Lowe, John R Money 25/- 700/- 365/4/C 
Lowe, Samuel R. Owner 35/- 165/- 374/10/C 
Lundy?, Ellis R Shares 150/- 90/- 399/3/O 
Lunsford, John S.? R Money 20/- 330/- 372/3/C 
Lynn, Ezeke Owner 80?/- 80/- 376/8/C 
Lynn, Harvey H. Owner 65/- 150/- 368/3/C 
Lynn, John H. Owner 20/- 13/- 367/6/C 
Lynn, Lelean A. R Money 50/- 215/100 374/6/C 
Lynn, Levi C. Owner 25/- 69/- 374/5/C 
Lynn, Melvina Owner 65/- 70/- 376/6/C 
Lynn, Mortimer N. Owner 25/- 60?/- 369/5/C 
Lynn, Mortimer N. Owner 50/- 50/- 369/4/C 
Lynn, Wm  M. Owner 6/- -/1 362/5/C 
Maddox, Geo. E. ? -/- -/- 383/2/D 
Maddox, William Owner 11/- 22/- 379/3/C 
Maddox, William R Money 25/- 130/- 394/5/D 
Marshall, Samuel R Shares 5/- -/- 392/5/D 
Marshall, Wesley 
D. 

Owner 5/- 20/- 406/7/O 

Marshall, Wm  H. Owner 70/- 42/- 370/9/C 
Martyn, Samuel R Money 10/- 143/- 402/4/O 
Maxfield, Orvis Owner 5/- 95/- 408/9/O 
McEwen, Everline Owner 4/- 26/- 371/10/C 
McInteer, A. L. Owner 20?/- -/- 385/4/D 
McInteer, Jno Sr. R Money 8/- 25/25 397/1/D 
McInteer, L. A. Owner 6/- 62/- 385/8/D 
McIntosh, Robt. E. R Money 100/- 350/- 359/1/C 
McKey, William Owner 50/- 100/- 387/4/D 
Merchant, Richd F. Owner 10/4 60/- 384/6/D 
Merchant, Robt. B. Owner 30/- 72/- 385/3/D 
Merchant, Wm  E. R Money -/- -/- 384/5/D 
Methrell, John W. Owner 50/- 77/- 408/6/O 
Metzger, William Owner 300/- 300/- 399/7/O 
Mills, Redmond Owner 20/- 100/18 405/4/O 
Mills, William T.? Owner 5/- -/45 405/10/O 
Milstead, Coleman ? 100/- 40/- 379/1/C 
Milstead, Hariet T. Owner 40/- 156/- 378/10/C 
Molair, Robt H. Owner 50/- 166/- 369/9/C 
Money?, Cora Owner 4/- -/- 397/8/D 
Moore, Thomas Owner 10/- 2/- 361/4/C 
Murphy, Benj. H. Owner 50/- 150/- 369/7/C 
Naglee, John Owner 500/- 691/- 399/4/O 
Naglee, Joseph Owner 23/- 200?/- 409/9/O 
Nash, Jesse R Money 35/- 300?/- 412/2/O 
Nash, Lucinda Owner 8/- 10/- 411/7/O 
Nickins, William R Money 10/- 207/- 392/1/D 
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Norman, John B. Owner 75/- 175/- 366/8/C 
Norman?, Thomas Owner 75/- 260?/- 368/2/C 
Oht?, Margaret Owner 200/- -/32 400/4/O 
O'Rear, John H. Owner 100/- 75/115 363/6/C 
Pattersen, 
Arrington 

Owner 15/- 64/- 411/1/O 

Patterson, Andrew Owner 3/- -/4 411/3/O 
Patterson, 
Benjamin 

Owner 8/- -/4 408/10/O 

Patterson, 
Gustam? Jr 

Owner 5/- -/17 400/2/O 

Patterson, Jesse Owner 10/- 25/- 390/5/D 
Patterson, John T. Owner 25/- 100/35 400/1/O 
Payne, Alfred R Shares 40/- 130/- 382/7/C 
Payne, Hugh G. Owner 8/- 24/- 404/5/O 
Payne, Jackson Owner 20/- 44/- 375/6/C 
Payne, Jno. M. R Money 20/- 200/200 394/10/D 
Pearson, Bernard Owner 25/- 50/- 371/7/C 
Pearson, George Owner 12/- 70/- 370/8/C 
Pearson, James Owner 5/- 50/- 378/6/C 
Pearson, James K. Owner 25/- 25/- 371/4/C 
Petkins?, Amasa? Owner 25/- 75/- 377/5/C 
Petkins?, George Owner 75/- 105/- 378/1/C 
Petterson, 
Gustavre Sr. 

Owner 50/- 100/- 411/2/O 

Pettitt, George T.? Owner 15/- 25/10 405/9/O 
Pettitt, Isreal J. R Shares 75/- 72/- 404/10/O 
Pettitt, John Q. Owner 15/- 19/- 403/3/O 
Pettitt, Lewis W. Owner 15/- 25/10 405/8/O 
Petty, George Owner 10/- 40/- 360/7/C 
Petty, Nancy A. Owner 12/- 40/- 360/6/C 
Pierson, Alexander Owner 20/- 113/- 408/3/O 
Pierson, John Owner 80/- 100/120 408/2/O 
Pitkins, George Owner 40/- 60/- 377/4/C 
Posey, George W. Owner 6/- 9/- 404/4/O 
Posey, James R Shares 20/- 30/- 379/7/C 
Posey, John Owner 40/- 56?/- 380/3/C 
Posey, John Owner 8/- 17/- 379/10/C 
Posey, Thomas Owner 90/- 50/- 379/9/C 
Posey, Thomas R Money 6/- 100/- 378/2/C 
Purcell, Emily Owner 10/- 15/- 380/8/C 
Rainy, James R Money 11/- 74/- 380/1/C 
Ralls, Wm  H. R Money 30/- 1700/- 365/6/C 
Randall, Chas. H. R Money 30/- 70/- 369/10/C 
Ratcliffe, George Owner 10/- 173/- 385/1/D 
Redmond, Isaac Owner 15/- -/10 401/7/O 
Reed, Edward Owner 30/- 70/- 404/3/O 
Reed, Legrand Owner 25/- 25/50 407/1/O 
Reed, Pembroke Owner 10/- 40/- 405/7/O 
Reed, Wellington 
D. 

Owner 30/- 70/- 405/5/O 

Reeves, John Owner 10/- 26/- 402/8/O 
Reid, Ira C. R Money 150/- 250/- 376/10/C 
Reid, J. William R Shares 60/- 140/- 370/10/C 
Reid, Jos. B. Owner 110/- 15/- 360/5/C 
Reid, Leddy Owner 50/- 210/- 378/8/C 
Reid, Reubin Owner 25/- 25/- 378/7/C 
Reiley,     
   [no first name] Owner 30/- 106/- 378/9/C 
Renoe, John H. Owner 50/- 275/- 373/7/C 
Renoe, John S. R Shares 20/- 3/- 361/6/C 
Renoe, Wm 

[initial.?] 
R Money 30/- 90/10 362/7/C 

Rine, Wm  H. Owner 80/- 28/- 364/5/C 
Rison, Frank Owner 3/- 3/- 387/8/D 
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Rison, James Owner 29/- 16/- 387/9/D 
Rolls, William H. Owner 20/- -/8 399/5/O 
Russell, Geniza? Owner 30/- 160/- 376/3/C 
Russell, Henry H. R Money 20/- 10/- 363/5/C 
Russell, James Owner 25/- 175/- 371/2/C 
Russell?, 
Manassas 

Owner 6/- 120/- 376/4/C 

Savage, Joseph M. 
Estate 

Owner 17/- 200/- 409/10/O 

Schirtz, Robert E. R Money 30/- 30/- 409/6/O 
Selecman, 
Catharen 

Owner 100/- 139/- 400/10/O 

Selecman, 
Redmond 

R Shares 125/- 119/- 400/9/O 

Selecman, Thomas 
P. 

Owner 100/- 200/- 406/5/O 

Selecman, William 
R. 

Owner -/- 67/- 401/3/O 

Seman?, Henry R Shares 5/- 300/- 364/8/C 
Semans, Eliza Owner 70/- 16/- 401/5/O 
Semm?, W & J. 
D.? 

Owner 5/- 360/- 410/5/O 

Shaw, Henry Owner 30/- 32/- 401/4/O 
Shepherd, Sarah Owner 20/- 146/146 387/10/D 
Simmons, Henry Owner 4/- 32/- 377/3/C 
Simpson, Cordelia Owner 25/- 28/- 405/3/O 
Simpson, Thomas 
I.? 

Owner 50/- 117/- 408/5/O 

Smith, James Owner 75/- 30/- 382/9/C 
Smith, Thomas P. Owner 35/- 27/- 374/9/C 
Smith, Wm  A. B. Owner 70/- 80/1? 378/3/C 
Smoot, John W. R Money 20/- 60/- 409/4/O 
Smoot, William H. Owner 40/- 81/- 406/4/O 
Snyder, Sophia Owner -/-? 600/- 402/7/O 
Steele, Wm  F. R Money -/- -/- 382/6/C 
Stepherson, Hiram R Money 80/- 50/- 368/1/C 
Stevans?, Saml  J. R Money 35/- 166/- 398/1/D 
Stoddard, Peter R Money 150/- 50/- 377/8/C 
Stoll, Frederick Owner 40/- 140/- 368/9/C 
Stone, Charles Owner 10/- 150/- 393/5/D 
Stonnell, Richard Owner 300/20 1200/- 390/8/D 
Stonnell, 
Sherwood  

B.R 
Shares 

150/- 250/100 399/8/O 

Storke, Benj? W. Owner 20/- 30/0 367/1/C 
Storke, John S. R Shares 8/- 190/- 371/9/C 
Strobert, William Owner 22/- 23/- 391/2/D 
Strother, William Owner 40/- 110/- 364/2/C 
Stuart, R. Horne? R Money 25/10 -/45 361/1/C 
Sullivan, Jas. Robt. Owner 8/- 15/- 374/3/C 
Sullivan, John Owner 15/- 75/- 372/8/C 
Sullivan, Luthur R Shares 20/- 15/- 373/9/C 
Suthard, Walace R Shares 30/- 100/- 363/9/C 
Suthard, Wm  S. Owner 50/- 56/- 364/6/C 
Sutherland, J. W. R Money 2/- -/- 384/3/D 
Swann, Julia Owner 6/- 29/20 406/3/O 
Syncox, Thomas Owner 100/- 200/- 388/1/D 
Tansell, George 
W. 

Owner 100/- 100/- 409/3/O 

Tavenor, L. E. Owner 550/- 850/- 392/8/D 
Taverer?, James R Shares 100/- 405/- 410/10/O 
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Taylor, Annie M. Owner 70/- 46/- 367/5/C 
Taylor, Jesee? S.? Owner 4/- -/- 410/9/O 
Taylor, John R Shares 8/- ?/8 411/9/O 
Taylor, John G. Owner 75/- 150/75 367/4/C 
Thomas, Charles Owner 5/- 3/- 398/7/D 
Thomas, John Owner 25?/- 12?/- 386/1/D 
Thomas, Richard Owner 7/- -/- 398/6/D 
Thornton, P.L.W. R Money 30/- 135/- 401/1/O 
Thornton, W. W. Owner 70/3 -/130 360/4/C 
Tillelle, James 
Thos. 

R Money 25/- 120/- 381/8/C 

Tolson, James Owner 25/- 82/- 394/9/D 
Tolson, Jno. N. Owner 100/- 35/- 397/5/D 
Tolson, John C. Owner 5/- -/5 364/3/C 
Torence 
[Florence?], James 

Owner 10/- 65/12 380/6/C 

Trone?, James Owner 15/- 10/- 382/8/C 
Tryon, Ira Owner 2/- 34/- 377/2/C 
Tyrrell, David R Shares 40/- 108/- 403/8/O 
Uhlig, August Owner 70/- 10/- 368/10/C 
Underwood, John Owner 10/- 62/- 410/1/O 
Upton, William H. Owner 12/- -/12 399/9/O 
Vaughn, William Owner 60/- 248/- 393/7/D 
Voy, Henry Owner 13/- 9/- 368/7/C 
Wait, Hulbert H. Owner 50/- 90/- 369/3/C 
Wane, A. D. R Money 100/8 130/- 386/9/D 
Ward, Thomas Owner 30/- 25/- 410/7/O 
Waters, Robert Owner 40/- 37/- 384/9/D 
Watts, Eliza Owner 7/- -/- 373/1/C 
Wearing?, Peyton? Owner 15/- 35/- 382/2/C 
Webster, James R Shares? 30/3? -/60 379/2/C 
Weeks, Lawrence R Shares 60/- 150/- 364/10/C 
Whalen, Daniel Owner 20/- 68/- 403/2/O 
Wheat, J. F. R Money 60/- 101?/- 383/1/D 
Whiting, Martin Owner 1/- 5/- 377/10/C 
Whitly, John H. Owner 15/00? 15/- 366/2/C 
Williams, Andrew Owner 8/- 4/- 394/3/D 
Williams, George Owner 20/- 500/- 393/2/D 
Williams, George     
   (Colored) Owner 12/- 27/- 394/2/D 
Williams, Jane R Money 10/- 140/15 382/4/C 
Williams, Jesse Owner 10/- 110/- 393/1/D 
Williams, Thomas R Shares 100/- 100/- 395/5/D 
Williams, Zeal Owner 22?/- 60/- 394/4/D 
Willis, Edward M. Owner 500/- 600/- 389/4/D 
Willis, Peter    366/3/C 
Windsor, James T. Owner 80/- 70/- 402/1/O 
Windsor, John R. Owner 70/- 80/- 399/10/O 
Woodyard, John 
W. 

Owner 5/- 99/- 407/4/O 

Wright, Edwin T. Owner 40/8 52/- 366/5/C 
Wright, Jane Owner 18/- 20/- 360/10/C 
Wright, Luthur Owner 35/- 125/- 366/7/C 
Wright, Luthur R Shares 70/3 42/- 366/6/C 
Wright, Wm  Jr. Owner 10/- 40/- 360/9/C 
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DUMFRIES DISTRICT COURT 
LAND CAUSES 1793-1811 

 
Abstracted by William M. Balderson, Jr. 

 
(continued from vol. 2, no. 3) 

 
Page 21. 
 “Page & al. v Masons Est.  Pltf. Costs $6.54”   Chancery Cause.  John Page, William 
Page, Thomas Swann and wife Jane, Pltf. vs. George Mason Deft.  Mrs. Ann Mason, deceased, 
possessed land in Prince William County which had been purchased by her from John Peake and 
Henry Filkins.  Mrs. Mason made her Last Will and Testament around 1762 and the following 
was cited in this cause: 
 “Item  I leave the lands I bought of John Peake and Henry Filkins to be sold by my 
Executors and Legally Conveyed to the purchaser or purchasers and their heirs, as also All the 
rest of my personal Estate not before Disposed of for the payment of my debts and Legacies and 
the Overplus if any to be equally divided between my grand~”  [continued next page] 
 
Page 22. 

“Children Samuel Seldon and Mary Seldon aforesaid”  Mrs. Ann Mason appointed her 
sons George Mason, Thompson Mason and her friend John Moncure as her executors.  This was 
followed by the death of Moncure then followed by the death of Thompson Mason.  George 
Mason, the surviving Executor, made his Last Will and Testament, naming his son George 
Mason and his friend Martin Cockburn his Executor, and then he died.  Cockburn refused to act 
as Executor and George Mason qualified and continues to act as Executor.  That George Mason 
is the deft. in this Cause. 
 The Pltf. ask the Court to make George Mason a defendant in their Bill of Complaints.  
Their claim is that the debts of Mrs. Mason have in whole or mostly been paid, but that the land 
purchased from Peake has been withheld from sale.  Samuel Selden, grandson of Mrs. Ann 
Mason, died an infant, under 21-years-old.  Thus Mary Selden became entitled to the whole 
surplus from the sale of the land.  Mary Selden married Mann Page, now dec’d, her issue being 
the pltfs John and William Page and Jane Swann. 
 
Page 23. 
 Mary, after the death of her husband, remarried to William Carey Selden.  Mary Selden 
died “somewhere about the latter part of 1787” without issue by Selden. 
 
 The orators and Jane are the children and legal representatives of the said Mary Selden 
and are entitled to the surplus from the sale of the land.  This has been discussed with George 
Mason and he is agreeable to a decree directing the sale of the land, he further states that there is 
some amount due his father, dec’d, from the Ann Mason Estate and that any surplus could then 
be divided among the pltfs.  The pltfs request the Court to make a decree for the sale of the land, 
i.e. a Writ of Sup. 
 
[For the will of Ann (Thomson) Mason, see Stafford County Will Book O, pages 433-439.  See 
also The Five George Masons, by Pamela C. Copeland and Richard K. MacMaster (University 
Press of Virginia, 1975), page 85.] 
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Page 24. 
 George Mason answered the Bill of Complaints to the Court and admitted the facts of the 
Bill and agrees that a decree should be made. 
 “Estate of Mrs. Ann Mason, Dec

d
  D

r
.” 

 “1783 Aug 12
th

”  
 “To balance from Col

o
 Masons ledgers C  Prin C  £  25 -   2 - 3 

  Principal still to carry interest} Interest £  17 - 11 - 9 
 1793 To Ball from ditto without Interest   £       - 19 - 6 
 Aug 12

th
  To Interest on £ 25-2-3 to this date   £    7 - 10 - 9 

         £  25 -   2 - 6 
         ========= 
         £  51 -   4 - 3” 
 “1795 November [blank] 

th
” 

 Court orders that the mentioned land be sold at public~ [continued next page] 
 
Page 25. 
 sale in Town of Dumfries.  Robert Graham, Alexander Lithgow & John Lawson are 
appointed Commissioners to supervise the sale, receive the funds, pay the Deft his claim and the 
balance to the complainants.  “Plaintiffs cost   $ 6.54” 
 
 “Cannon vs. Campbell” - Court of Prince William sitting in Chancery.  John Cannon, 
Pltf. vs. Colin Campbell, Deft.  Bill of Complaint:  Colin Campbell was appointed Deputy 
Sheriff of Pr. Wm. Co. by Sheriff John M

c
Millian.  John Cannon and William Farrow posted 

security for Campbell.  At a later date Campbell was appointed Deputy Sheriff by Sheriff John 
Tyler and again Cannon and Farrow posted his security.   
 
Page 26. 
 On 11 July 1791 Colin Campbell, in order to indemnify any sums of Cannon and Farrow, 
bargained and sold by Mortgage two lots in the Town of Dumfries to Cannon and Farrow where 
Campbell lived.  Later McMillian obtained a judgment against Cannon and Farrow as 
Campbell’s security in the amount of £ 925-9-11 for public taxes collected by Campbell but not 
paid into the Treasury.  Judgment dated 15 March 1793, levied on the property [continued next 
page]  
 
Page 27. 

of the said complainant.  Cannon satisfied to McMillian the sum of £ 371, an amount 
resulting from an indepth investigation by Cannon for taxes collected in 1788 not returned to the 
Treasury.  Confirmed by receipt of John McMillian and Treasurer’s Account and Judgment of 
the General Court hereto annexed. 
  

Another judgment obtained by the Administrators of John Tyler against Cannon and 
others as security for Campbell.  Orator has been compelled to pay further sum £ 321-10-4.  
Cannon has requested payment form Campbell many times but Campbell refuses to do so.  
William Farrow is also named a deft. as he combined with Campbell by refusing to compel 
Campbell to pay or foreclose the mortgage.   
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Page 28. 
 Pltf. John Cannon requests a decree for the deft., Colin Campbell, to foreclose the 
mortgage or sell the same to recover his costs.  One Simms was the attorney for the Pltf. 
 
 “At Rules held June 1794  Bill filed & time. 
   July   Continued for answer 
   August   Attachment for answer 
   Nov & Dec  Cont

d
 for answer 

   January 1795  Ditto 
   February  Attachment for answer 
   March   Bill taken for confessed & Set for Decree.” 
 
 “In Court August the 6

th
 1795.  On having the bill and exhibit filed in this cause It is 

Decreed and ordered that the deft do pay the Plaintiff on or before the sixth day of October next 
the sum of £ 311-16-9½ with legal Interest thereon from the 1st day of December 1794 being the 
balance due from the Defent to the Plft for monies paid by him for the said Deft as his secu

r
y for 

the performance of his duty as Deputy Sheriff and on failure of payment It is further decreed and 
Ordered that the Mortgaged premises in the bill mentioned be sold by Alexander Henderson, 
John Gibson, and James Reid or any two of them at public Auction for ready money after 
advertising the sale thereof in the News papers~”    [continued next page] 
 
Page 29. 
 “published in Alexandria and Dumfries for the space of three weeks successively, and out 
of the proceeds of the sale pay the pltf the aforesaid sum of money with Interest and also the 
Costs of this suit and the Overplus if any return to this Court subject to their further Orders and 
that the said Commissioners or any two of them do make deeds of conveyance to the purchasor 
or purchasors of the said premises” 
 
 Nov. 1795 Court continued. 
 At Court on 9 March 1796.  The Commissioners made their report.  The property was 
sold and the sum of £ 68-5-6 was returned to the Court.  Deft Colin Campbell is agreeable that 
per the Order of 6 Jan 1796 this sum be paid to Langhorn Dade for the benefit of Colin 
Campbells securities for being Deputy Sheriff under John Tyler, Dec

d
, late High Sheriff. 

 
Page 30. 
 Attached is Colin Campbell’s Bond to John Cannon and William Farrow for two lots in 
the Town of Dumfries for the Security of £1000-0-0 dated 11 July 1791.  This was witnessed by 
John Lawson, John Fristoe and by his mark, Richard Williams. 
 
 Also is the Deed of Mortgage from Colin Campbell to John Cannon and William Farrow 
as acknowledged by Campbell and admitted to record at a Court of 5 Sept. 1791.  Teste. Robert 
Graham, Cl.Cur. 
 
 “1794  D

r
  Colin Campbell in acc

t
 with John Cannon 

 June 6 To my decree against you in Chancery   £ 683 -  7 - 4 
  To the Costs arising on said suit $ 10.56   £     3 -  3 - 4 ½ 
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         £ 686 - 10 - 8 ½ 
  To Int on the above from the 6

th
 day of June to  

  the 26
th

 day of July being 1 month and 20 days £      4 - 15 - 2 
         £  691 -  5 - 10 ½ 
 
  To balance due as p

r
 Contra    £ 536 -  5 - 10 ½ 

  To Int on the above from the 26
th

 day of July 
  to the 1 day of Dec

r
 being 4 months & 5 days £      9 -  4 - 4 

          £  545 - 10 - 2 ½ 
 
  To balance as p

r
 Contra    £  304 -  0 - 2 ½ 

 Dec 1 To the Sheriff Commission on the sale of  
  your slaves      £      7 - 16 - 7 
         £  311 - 16 - 9 ½ 
  To Int on the above sum from the 1st day of Dec 
  1794 to the 6th day of June 1795 being  
  6 months & 5 days     £     8 -  0 - 0 
     Balance due John Cannon £ 319 - 16 - 9 ½” 
 [continued next page] 
 
Page 31.       
 1794 
 July 26 By sale of Negroes Harry & Charles   £ 155 -  0 - 0 
    Balance due Debit   £ 536 -  5 - 10 ½ 
         £ 691 -  5 - 10 ½ 
  By the Sale of Sundry Slaves to Wit 
 Dec 1 ~ Negro Violet     £    30 - 0 - 0 
  ditto Sam £ 76-5-0, ditto Easter £ 52-0-0  £  128 - 5 - 0 
  ditto Sarah and her two children   £    73 - 5 - 0 
  ditto Judy      £    10 - 0 - 0 
    Balance due debit   £  304 - 0 - 2 ½ 
         £ 545 - 10 - 2 ½” 
   “Errors Excepted  John Cannon” 
 
Page 31. 
 “The Commonwealth of Virginia to the Sheriff of Prince William County Greeting:  We 
command you that of the goods and chattles of Colin Campbell John Cannon and William 
Farrow late in your Bailiwick you cause to be made the sum of Nine hundred and twenty five 
pounds nine Shillings and Eleven pence.  Which John McMillian Gent. late in our County Court 
of Prince William aforesaid hath recovered against them by motion also ninety pounds of 
Tobacco and fifteen Shillings which were adjudged him in our said court for his costs by him in 
that behalf expended. where of the said Colin Campbell John Cannon and William Farrow are 
convict as appears to us of record and that you have the same before the Justices of our County 
Court at the Court house aforesaid on the first monday in May next to render to the said John 
McMillian of the debt and costs aforesaid and have them there this writ.  Witness Robert Graham 
Clerk of our said court and at the at the [sic] Court House aforesaid this 15th day of March 1793 
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and in the 17th year of the Commonwealth” 
   “Robert Graham” 
 
 “Sheriffs return.  Executed on the following slaves to Wit Dublin, Zachariah, James, 
Charles, Garrard, Henson, Hanny, Will, Aaron, Ben, Nan, Molly, Matilda, Kate, Jenny, Lett, 
Mary, Phillis, Lincey, Nell and Watson als [sic] on 36 head cattle 9 horses 20 head of sheep 5 
feather Beds five tables and 24 Chairs the property of John Cannon and ordered by the pltf not to 
take” [continued next page] 
 
Page 32.  

“security forth Coming therefore at day of sale as to proceed further in the business until 
his further instructions” 
    “George Lane  DS” 
    “A Copy Teste   Robert Graham  Cl Cu`r” 
 
 “At a Court held for Prince William County the first day of Aug

t
 1791”  Margaret Tyler 

ad
x
 of John Tyler Dec

d
 Pltf. against Colin Campbell, Ann Attwell ad

x
 & Charles Attwell adm

r
 of 

Thomas Attwell Dec
d
 Deft. } On Motion.  Judgment granted Pltf. against Defts in the sum of six 

hundred and seventy eight pounds, fourteen Shillings and ten pence, being the amount of taxes 
below Cedar Run in 1788 which Colin Campbell, late Deputy Sheriff of the said John Tyler, is 
accountable for and her costs to be levied on the goods and chattles of Colin Campbell, William 
Farrow and Langhorn Dade and the said Thomas Attwell, Decd, in the hands of the Defts. Ann 
and Charles Attwell.  Pltf. costs are 90 lbs. Tobacco @ 1/5 per hund’d & 15/. 
 In the above judgment a writ of Fieri Facias was issued on 5 August 1791, returnable at 
the October Court.  But had not been returned by 5 March 1794.  Signed by Robert Graham 
Clerk of the Court. 
 At a Court of 5 August 1791, Margaret Tyler, ad

x
 of John Tayler, Gent.,dec’d, Pltf. vs. 

John Cannon [security for Colin Campbel], Deft. } On Motion.  By an affidavit of William Tyler 
that John Cannon had legal notice of this motion [continued on next page] 
 
Page 33.  
 a judgment was awarded the Pltf. to recover from the Deft. the sum of six hundred and 
seventy eight pounds, fourteen Shillings and ten pence, being the amount of the Revenue tax 
below Cedar Run for 1788 accountable by Colin Campbell, late a Deputy Sheriff under John 
Tyler, dec’d, and also to collect his costs.  “Robert Graham”  
 “The Justices of Prince W

m
 County & C

r
” 

 “1795 
 “Nov 4  By Colin Campbell Lotts & Horses sold 
   at public sale by your decree to W

m
 Tyler 

   & George Lane for     £  400 -  0 - 0 
      D

r
 

 1796 
 Mar 4  To John Cannon in full of his decree [present?] 
   Viz ~ Debt      £  311 - 16 - 9½ 
   Interest on D

o
 from 1st Dec

r
 1794 

    to 4th Nov 1795    £    14 -  9 - 4½ 
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   Costs       £      3 - 12 - 5 
          £  329 - 18 - 6     
   To John Cannon paid by him for 
   Advertizement of the lots & horses 
   in the papers      £        - 12 - 0 
   To Calvin Deberneaux for crying 
   in the property      £      1 -  4 - 0 
 [Mar] 9  To Cash in full    £     68 -  5 - 6 
          £   400 -0- 0”  
     
 Dower:  Peyton vs. Deakins.  Dated 25 June 1793. 
Sherriff to command Ambrose Deakins to justify and without delay render unto Margaret 
Peyton, wife of Henry Peyton, dec’d, her reasonable Dower, being tract of land on Broad Run in 
Prince William County containing 183 acres.  [continued on next page] 
 
Page 34. 
 If Deakins does not comply, the Sheriff is to summon him to Court in Dumfries on the 
first Monday of August next to show cause.   
 Margaret Peyton was represented by her attorney, Charles Simms. 
 “At Rules held Aug

t
 1793   Co. or as Deft.” 

  “Sept     Oyer   vc 
  Oct & Nov    Continued for Dec

l
 

  Dec
r
     D

o
 

  Jany & Feb 1794   D
o
 

  Mar, Apr & May   D
o
 

  June     Dec
l
 filed Jud

t
 & Inquiry 

   
Page 34.   Aug Court 1794   Jud

t
 and Inquiry set aside Non detinet  

       joined & continued 
  Nov     Continued 
  Mar June & Aug 1795   Continued for Pltf 
  June 1796    This suit is dismisses with costs” 
 
Page 35. 
 Chancery Court.  Gardiner vs. Carr Trust.   Margin note “Defendants Cost $6.46” 
 Richard Gardiner, orator, to show that William Carr, dec’d, promised and agreed to let 
him a plantation on Piney Branch in Prince William County at a rent of 1,000 lbs. of Tobacco & 
Casks per annum and the taxes on the land.  Carr promised to make and execute a lease for three 
lives on the property.  Gardiner trusted Carr, took possession of the plantation, built a dwelling 
and made several other improvements.  Carr died before he wrote the lease, but he did write his 
Last Will and Testament and left the land in question to his daughter Elizabeth, who is now the 
wife of Willoughby Tebbs, and after her, to her children. 
 Willoughby Tebbs and Elizabeth refuse to honor the claimed agreement.  Gardiner has 
regularly paid the rent to Tebbs since the death of Carr. 
 Gardiner claims under the strict rules of Common Law the agreement should stand.  
Gardiner was represented by Charles Simms. 
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Page 36. 
 In answer to the Bill of Complaint, the Defts. agree it is just and agree to abide by any 
decree.  This was signed by “Willy Tebbs” and “Betsy Tebbs” 
 “At Rules - November Court 1795” 
  Nov & Dec    Cont

d
 Bill 

 1796 Jan & Feb    D
o
 

  March     Bill and time 
  April     Continued 
  May     Attachment for answer 
 
 At Court of 10 June 1796 the case was discontinued.  Court ordered the Deft. to issue a 
lease to the Pltf. for three lives for the land mentioned in the Bill at the stated rent of 1,000 lbs. of 
Crop Tobacco and taxes.  Pltf. to pay costs. 
  

[End of case.  To be continued.] 
 

 

 
 

 
Annual Report of the Superintendent of the Poor of  

Prince William County for the year ending November 30, 1890 

Transcribed by Ronald R. Turner 
 
 
Blaton Payne Coles District 12 months 60.00 
Permelia Renoe Brentsville District 9 months 45.00 
Betsy Harrison unknown 4 months 20.00 
William Cornwell (child) Coles District 4 months 10.00 
Bertie Cornwell Coles District 2 1/2 months   6.25 
 

Colored 
 

Aron Swain Gainesville Dist. 10 months 60.00 
Charley Bansel Occoquan Dist. 12 months 60.00 
Randolph Marshall (child) Dumfries Dist. 12 months 30.00 
Georgia Marshall  Dumfries Dist. 12 months 30.00 
Martha Marshall Dumfries Dist. 12 months 30.00 
 
Supt. Salary              160.00 
 
County Phasian (Physician?)   30.00 
 
  Total Amount $541.25 
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LOUDOUN COUNTY DEATH RECORDS 
 

Transcribed by Carolyn G. Lynn 
 

The following death records indicate the names of persons born in Prince William County who died in 
Loudoun County, Virginia.  The records were transcribed from the Bureau of Vital Statistics’ Registers of 
Births, Deaths and Marriages on microfilm at the Library of Virginia, Loudoun County, VA Death 
Records, Reel No. 17 (1856-1896).  (Note: A few deaths were listed more than once on separate pages.) 
 

 
Deceased Geo. Stewart Age at Death 18 

Race / Gender Slave / M Parents Alfred R. Medley 
Slave Owner C. F. Stewart Place of Birth Prince William County 

Date of Death March 20, 1854 Occupation  
Place of Death Near Aldie Consort  

Cause of Death Cancer Informant Master 
 

Deceased Mary E. Thomas Age at Death 31 yr 2 mos 6 dys 
Race / Gender W / F Parents Unknown 

Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 
Date of Death July 10, 1854 Occupation  

Place of Death Washington City Consort John H. Thomas 
Cause of Death Diarrhea Informant John H. Thomas, husband 

 
Deceased Susanna Gover Age at Death 59 yrs 3 mos 17 dys 

Race / Gender W / F Parents Spencer & Susanna Anderson 
Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 

Date of Death April 5, 1854 Occupation  
Place of Death Leesburg Consort Samuel Gover 

Cause of Death Consumption Informant Samuel Gover, husband 
 

Deceased Mrs. Martha W. Adams Age at Death 58 
Race / Gender W / F Parents Thomas & Joanna Wren 

Slave Owner  Place of Birth Centreville, Pr. Wm. 
Date of Death July 3, 1854 Occupation  

Place of Death Middleburg Consort Frances Adams, dec. 
Cause of Death Consumption Informant G. W. Adams 

 
Deceased Wm. E. Davis Age at Death 50 

Race / Gender W / M Parents Benson & Ann Davis 
Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 

Date of Death November 6, 1854 Occupation Farmer 
Place of Death Boscum Consort Vilinda Davis 

Cause of Death Bileous dysentery Informant Mrs. Vilinda Davis 
 

Deceased George Hensey Age at Death 18 
Race / Gender W / M Parents Rhoda Hensey & Nancy 

Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 
Date of Death December 7, 1854 Occupation Bricklayer 

Place of Death Near North Fork Consort  
Cause of Death Typhoid fever Informant J. Hensey, brother 
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Deceased -------- [Davis] Age at Death 11 mos 

Race / Gender W / M Parents Richard G. & Susan Davis 
Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 

Date of Death October 1854 Occupation  
Place of Death Green Garden Consort  

Cause of Death  Informant Alexander Pierson 
 

Deceased Jonathan Milbourn Age at Death 34 yr 10 mos 
Race / Gender W / M Parents John & Mary Milbourn 

Slave Owner  Place of Birth B.R. Mountain [Bull Run] 
Date of Death September 18, 1854 Occupation Engineer R.R. 

Place of Death B.R.M. Res. Of father Consort Massa Milbourn 
Cause of Death Cholera Informant Father 

 
Deceased Patsy Age at Death 36 yr 11 mos 5 dys 

Race / Gender Slave Parents Amy 
Slave Owner Francis Elgin Place of Birth Prince William County 

Date of Death August 15, 1855 Occupation  
Place of Death Res. Of Master Consort  

Cause of Death Dropsy Informant Francis Elgin 
 

Deceased Lucy Buckner Age at Death 80  
Race / Gender W / F Parents Bernard & Margt. Hoe 

Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 
Date of Death February 6, 1855 Occupation  

Place of Death Loudoun Consort  
Cause of Death Unknown Informant Sariss Buckner, son 

 
Deceased Ralphney Age at Death 90 

Race / Gender Slave / M Parents  
Slave Owner James B. Throckmorton Place of Birth Prince William County 

Date of Death September 1856 Occupation  
Place of Death Res. Of Master Consort  

Cause of Death Old age Informant Jas. B. Throckmorton, master 
 

Deceased Marcus Age at Death 75 
Race / Gender Slave / Male Parents  

Slave Owner James McIlhany Place of Birth Prince William County 
Date of Death January 9, 1856 Occupation  

Place of Death James McIlhany’s Consort  
Cause of Death Old age Informant James McIlhany, master 

 
Deceased Robert Coe Age at Death 67 

Race / Gender W / M Parents Edward & ---- Coe 
Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 

Date of Death September 6, 1856 Occupation Farmer & miller 
Place of Death His Res--- Consort Elizabeth Coe 

Cause of Death Disease of kidneys Informant Duane Coe, son 
 

Deceased Octavia Cross Age at Death 32 
Race / Gender W / F Parents Wm. Rollins 

Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 
Date of Death January 1856 Occupation  

Place of Death Loudoun Consort  
Cause of Death Unknown Informant Catharine Cross, mother-in-law 
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Deceased Harrison L. McAtee Age at Death 76 
Race / Gender W / M Parents --- & --- McAtee 

Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 
Date of Death December 24, 1857 Occupation Farmer 

Place of Death On Blue Ridge Consort Jane McAtee 
Cause of Death Accident by machine Informant William McAtee, son 

 
Deceased Laura Age at Death 2 yr 6 mos 

Race / Gender Slave / F Parents Eidney 
Slave Owner John H. Butcher Place of Birth Prince William County 

Date of Death Fall 1857 Occupation  
Place of Death Jefferson C. Thomas Consort  

Cause of Death Croup Informant J. C. Thomas 
 

Deceased Sandy Berry Age at Death 80 
Race / Gender Slave / Male Parents Unknown 

Slave Owner Mary Kincheloe Place of Birth Prince William County 
Date of Death November 25, 1858 Occupation  

Place of Death Loudoun Consort  
Cause of Death Unknown Informant Wilson C. Sanders, head of family 

 
Deceased Lias T. Fletcher Age at Death 9  

Race / Gender W / M Parents Mathias & Mary A. Fletcher 
Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 

Date of Death October 14, 1858 Occupation  
Place of Death Loudoun Consort  

Cause of Death Dropsy Informant Mathias Fleetcher, father 
 

Deceased James Deer Age at Death 80 
Race / Gender Free Colored / M Parents  

Slave Owner  Place of Birth  
Date of Death January 20, 1858 Occupation Supposed 

Place of Death Poor House Consort  
Cause of Death Old age Informant W. Furr, steward 

 
Deceased Rebecca Fouche Age at Death 50 yr 5 mos 

Race / Gender W / F Parents John & Amy Torrison 
Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 

Date of Death December 27, 1859 Occupation  
Place of Death Loudoun Consort Temple Fouche 

Cause of Death Cancer in stomach Informant Lewis Torrison, brother 
 

Deceased Elizabeth Silcott Age at Death 42 
Race / Gender W / F Parents Wm. A. & ---- Hutchison 

Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 
Date of Death September 22, 1859 Occupation Laborer 

Place of Death Near Wm. Ewers Consort Albert Silcott 
Cause of Death Tumor Informant A. Silcott, husband 

 
Deceased C. Payton Thompson Age at Death 24 

Race / Gender W / M Parents Israel B. & Frances T. Thompson 
Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 

Date of Death June 1859 Occupation Tobacconist 
Place of Death Middleburg Consort  

Cause of Death Consumption Informant I. B. Thompson, father 
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Deceased Jacob Marshall Age at Death 86 

Race / Gender W / M Parents Jacob & Sarah Marshall 
Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 

Date of Death September 8, 1859 Occupation Farmer 
Place of Death His Res--- Consort Mary Marshall 

Cause of Death Old age Informant Thomas Marshall, son 
 

Deceased Herbert [Hutchinson] Age at Death 8 
Race / Gender Slave / M Parents Wm. & --- Hutchinson 

Slave Owner A. G. Smith Place of Birth Prince William County 
Date of Death June 1860 Occupation Laborer 

Place of Death Middleburg Consort  
Cause of Death Scrofula Informant W. Hibbs 

 
Deceased Mary [Thompson] Age at Death 25 

Race / Gender Slave / F Parents Israel & Frances T. Thompson 
Slave Owner Mrs. McNeely Place of Birth Prince William County 

Date of Death August 1860 Occupation Tobacconist 
Place of Death Middleburg Consort  

Cause of Death Typhoid fever Informant I. B. Thompson, father 
 

Deceased Jacob Marshall Age at Death Abt. 86 
Race / Gender W / M Parents Jacob & Sarah Marshall 

Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 
Date of Death September 8, 1860 Occupation Farmer 

Place of Death Residence Consort Mary Marshall 
Cause of Death Old age Informant Thos. Marshall, son 

 
Deceased Rebecca Fouche Age at Death 50 yr 5 mos 

Race / Gender W / F  Parents Jno. & Amy Torrison 
Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 

Date of Death December 27, 1860 Occupation  
Place of Death Loudoun Consort Temple Fouche 

Cause of Death Cancer in stomach Informant Lewis Torrison, brother 
 

Deceased Margt. Rogers Age at Death 77 yr 2 mos 
Race / Gender W / F Parents Jas. & A. Hixson 

Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 
Date of Death April 27, 1864 Occupation  

Place of Death Mt. Pleasant Consort Sanford Rogers 
Cause of Death Unknown Informant Sanford Rogers, husband 

 
Deceased Mary Driscol Age at Death 63 

Race / Gender W / F Parents  
Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 

Date of Death January 1, 1864 Occupation  
Place of Death Jos. Taylor’s Consort  

Cause of Death Consumption Informant Jos. Taylor, neighbor 
 

Deceased Randolph Belt Age at Death 2 yr 9 mos 
Race / Gender W / M Parents G.J.P. & Leanna Belt 

Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 
Date of Death May 22, 1866 Occupation  

Place of Death Near Middleburg Consort  
Cause of Death Pneumonia Informant Father 
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Deceased Isabella Cockerille Age at Death 13 yr 11 mos 
Race / Gender W / F Parents Philip & Isabella Cockerille 

Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 
Date of Death November 11, 1866 Occupation  

Place of Death Near Gumspring Consort Not married 
Cause of Death Typhoid fever Informant Lewis H. Freeman, head of family 

 
Deceased Nancy Matthews Age at Death 60 

Race / Gender W / F Parents ---- Franklin 
Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 

Date of Death May 1, 1866 Occupation  
Place of Death Old Road Consort  

Cause of Death Consumption Informant John W. Hutchinson, son-in-law 
 

Deceased Lousia Clow Age at Death 73 
Race / Gender F Parents  

Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 
Date of Death September 1871 Occupation  

Place of Death Loudoun Consort Married Wm. Clow 
Cause of Death  Informant  

 
Deceased Walter C. Reeves Age at Death 78 

Race / Gender W / M Parents Not known 
Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 

Date of Death October 11, 1872 Occupation Farmer 
Place of Death Loudoun Consort Nancy A. Reeves 

Cause of Death Dropsy Informant John F. Reeves, son 
 

Deceased James W. Mankin Age at Death 65 
Race / Gender M / W Parents Parents not known 

Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince Co. 
Date of Death March 11, 1872 Occupation Farmer 

Place of Death Near Gumspring Consort Married 
Cause of Death Pneumonia Informant Geo. W. Mankin, son 

 
Deceased Thos. R. Omeara Sr. Age at Death 63 yr 3 mos 25 days 

Race / Gender W / M Parents Micahel & Nancy Omeara 
Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 

Date of Death December 25, 1874 Occupation Farmer 
Place of Death Loudoun Consort Married 

Cause of Death Consumption Informant Thos. R. Omeara Jr., son 
 

Deceased Rosie Sherly Age at Death 81 
Race / Gender W / F Parents  

Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 
Date of Death March 16, 1874 Occupation  

Place of Death Gainesville, Prince William Co. Consort Consort of G. W. Sherly 
Cause of Death Old age Informant Mrs. E. L. J. Clark, niece 

 
Deceased Jno. L. Gill Age at Death 84 

Race / Gender W / M Parents  
Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 

Date of Death March 8, 1877 Occupation Farmer 
Place of Death Bloomfield Consort Hannah Gill 

Cause of Death Pneumonia Informant Wm. H. Gill, son 
 



Prince William Reliquary  Vol. 3, No. 1 (January 2004) 

- 26 - 

 
Deceased Uriah Feagans Age at Death 53 yrs 2 mos 3 dys 

Race / Gender W / M Parents  
Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 

Date of Death May 1, 1878 Occupation Farmer 
Place of Death Near Ebenezer M. H. Consort Margaret Feagans 

Cause of Death Typhoid fever Informant Margaret Feagans, wife 
 

Deceased Juliet A. Griffith Age at Death 6 mos 27 dys 
Race / Gender W / F Parents Robt. P. & Martha Griffith 

Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 
Date of Death July 7, 1878 Occupation  

Place of Death Near Haymarket, Prince Wm. Co. Consort  
Cause of Death Cause unknown Informant Robt. P. Griffith, father 

 
Deceased James W. Murphy Age at Death 21 yr 4 mos 

Race / Gender W / M Parents Hiram & Huldah Murphy 
Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 

Date of Death November 21, 1878 Occupation  
Place of Death Unison Consort Unmarried 

Cause of Death Stricture of bowels Informant Hiram Murphy, father 
 

Deceased Agnes Tolson Age at Death 79 yr 1 mo 15 days 
Race / Gender W / F Parents Wm. & Mary Franklin 

Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 
Date of Death November 30, 1881 Occupation  

Place of Death  Consort Fielding Tolson 
Cause of Death Chills Informant Jno. W. Tolson, son 

 
Deceased Harriet F. Teel Age at Death 38 

Race / Gender W / F Parents Henry & Jane Teel 
Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 

Date of Death December 26, 1883 Occupation  
Place of Death Near Mountsville Consort Unmarried 

Cause of Death Dropsy Informant Geo. Williams, cousin 
 

Deceased Jane Moriarity Age at Death 59 
Race / Gender W / F Parents Henry & _____ Kidwell 

Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 
Date of Death May 29, 1883 Occupation  

Place of Death Near Leesburg Consort Michael Moriarity 
Cause of Death Consumption Informant John H. Moriarity, son 

 
Deceased Charles Butler Age at Death 83 

Race / Gender C / M Parents Lemuel & Fannie Butler 
Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 

Date of Death December 15, 1886 Occupation Laborer 
Place of Death Middleburg Consort Millie Butler 

Cause of Death Old age Informant Mille Butler, wife 
 

Deceased Maria V. Hixon Age at Death 71 
Race / Gender W / F Parents Joseph R. & Sarah Lynn 

Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 
Date of Death August 6, 1887 Occupation  

Place of Death Dover Consort John H. Hixon 
Cause of Death Consumption Informant John H. Hixon, husband 
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Deceased Aletis Garnett Age at Death 93 
Race / Gender C / F Parents Henry & Charity Barrett 

Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 
Date of Death November 25, 1887 Occupation  

Place of Death Arcola Consort Unknown 
Cause of Death Old age Informant Aaron Johnson, grandson 

 
Deceased Frank M. Cole Age at Death 56 

Race / Gender W / M Parents Bizzell [Basil] & Rebecca Cole 
Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 

Date of Death August 11, 1889 Occupation Farmer 
Place of Death Middleburg Consort Mary M. Cole 

Cause of Death Blood poisoning Informant Mary M. Cole, wife 
 

Deceased Anthony Payne Age at Death 16 yr 4 mos 
Race / Gender C / M Parents Landen & Eliza Payne 

Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 
Date of Death January 24, 1890 Occupation  

Place of Death Near Aldie Consort Unmarried 
Cause of Death Diptheria Informant Landon Payne, father 

 
Deceased Francis A. Chinn Age at Death 95 yr 4 mos 

Race / Gender W / M Parents Hugh & Chloe Chinn 
Slave Owner  Place of Birth Prince William County 

Date of Death October 9, 1892 Occupation Farmer 
Place of Death Aldie Consort Mary A. Chinn 

Cause of Death Old age Informant F. W. Chinn, son 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Manassas Industrial School for Colored Youth, Manassas, Va. 
Carnegie Building, postcard, ca. 1910. 
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      Bureau of R.F. & A. L. 
      Office of Asst Supt Supt- [sic] 
      District of Fauquier & Prince William 
      Warrenton, Va     March 14th 1867 
 
Bvt Brig Genl 
 C. Brown 
  A.A.A.G. 
   General 
    In compliance with instructions I have the honor to forward the 
following list of persons in Fauquier & Pr William counties.  [Only the Prince William list has 
been transcribed.] 
 
Prince William county contains many loyal men promanant [sic] among them are the following 
 
Names Remarks Address 
Henry W. 
Cunningham 

Late Lt Col 19th Maine Vols  A good 
man 

Manassas, Va 

Sumner Fitts Northern man (An “A No 1” man) [Ditto] 
I. P. Baldwin A true Union man respected by all Brentsville, Va. 
A. S. [U.S.?] Dunn  [Ditto]                             A Magistrate Independent Hill, 

Va. 
T. L. Selectman [Ditto]                              [Ditto] Occoquan, Va. 
Geo. W. Jones [Ditto] Manassas, Va. 
 
           Colored Men 
Wm  Chin                    Reads & writes  Respected by all Brentsville, Va. 
Chas  Mason [Ditto]                   [Ditto] Manassas, Va. 
Howison Pinn [Ditto]                   [Ditto] [Ditto] 
Arthur Toler [Ditto]                   [Ditto] Buckland, Va. 
Richard Alexander [Ditto]                   [Ditto] Manassas, Va. 
John Miles [Ditto]                   [Ditto] [Ditto] 
 
    In making these selections I have been guided by the requirements of your communication as 
regards true loyalty and ability.  I have not been able to see all of these parties but I believe they 
will all “work if placed in harness” 
   I am General Very Respectfully 
    Your Obt Servt 
      W. S. Chase 
      2d Lt V. R.C. & Asst Supt 
 
Records of the Assistant Commissioner for the State of Virginia, Bureau of Refugees, Freedmen, 
and Abandoned Lands, 1865-1869.  National Archives microfilm [film in RELIC] M1048, Roll 
67, p. 424   BV 
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 HOLLYWOOD OUT OF PRINCE WILLIAM 
 

By Donald L. Wilson 
 
The late pop singer Rosemary Clooney and her nephew, movie star George Clooney, have 
ancestral ties to Prince William County. As reported at 
www.genealogy.com/famousfolks/rosemaryc/index.html they descend from Joseph Farrow who 
was born here about 1742. Additional information is from 
http://www.eonline.com/Facts/People/Bio/0,128,15,00.html and from cited materials in RELIC, 
which take the lineage back two more generations.  
 
1. Abraham Farrow, b. ca. 1660; d. 1728/30, Overwharton Parish, Stafford Co., Va.; m. 1691, 
Stafford Co., Margaret, widow of Edward Mason [Stafford Co. Order Book 1689-93, p. 142, 
from abstract by Ruth and Sam Sparacio]. In 1703 Abraham Farrow was described as a 
millwright, running a mill on Quantico Creek [Stafford Co. Deeds and Wills "Z" p. 225-226, 
from abstract by Ruth and Sam Sparacio]. This land has been within Prince William County 
since 1731. As Abram Farrow Sr. of Stafford Co. he bought land in Apr. 1728 [Stafford Co. 
Deed Book J, p. 507-514]. His undated will resulted in a judgment in Stafford Co. court dated 15 
Oct. 1730 that was appealed to the General Court 17 Apr. 1731, and was finally probated in 
Stafford Co. on 9 June 1731. The will mentions his sons John, William (2), and Abraham 
Farrow. Also daughter Mary Davies wife of Joseph Davis [sic], granddaughter Lydia Scurlock, 
daughter Lydia Barker wife of Leonard Barker, daughter in law (stepdaughter) Margaret Bennett 
wife of William Bennett, daughter Rose Filkins wife of Henry Filkins, and wife Margaret 
Farrow. [Stafford Co. Will Book M, p. 29-35, from abstract by Ruth and Sam Sparacio]  
The International Genealogical Index (www.familysearch.org) shows only one Abraham Farrow 
born in the period 1640-1680: Abraham Farrow, baptized 9 Oct. 1653 at Staindorp, Durham, 
England, son of John Farrow. A Parent Search on the CD-ROM version of the IGI (not currently 
available online) reveals that John Farrow had the following children baptized at Staindorp: 
 
i. Isabel, bapt. 22 Dec. 1651 (mother not identified)  
ii. Abraham, bapt. 9 Oct. 1653 (mother not identified)  
iii. Jane, bapt. 15 Feb. 1657 (mother identified as Muriell)  
iv. John, bapt. 10 Mar. 1659 (mother identified as Mirrell)  
v. Thomas, bapt. 28 July 1661 (mother not identified)  
vi. John, bapt. 16 Sept. 1666 (mother identified as Miriell)  
 
If this is the right family, Abraham's eldest son being named John would make him a namesake 
for his grandfather. The link is not yet proven. A record of Abraham's immigration to American 
has not been found. 
 
2. William Farrow, b. ca. 1700; d. 1754, Prince William Co., Va.; m. before 1734, Ann 
[Thornton?]. Shown as head of a household in 1724, and over age 16 [probably over 21], next to 
the households of his father Abraham and his brother Abraham [tobacco tenders list in George H. 
S. King, The Register of Overwharton Parish, Stafford County, Virginia, p. 161]. Will dated 29 
Jan. 1754, probated 25 Mar. 1754, mentions wife Ann, sons Alexander, William, Joseph (3), and 
Thornton Farrow, daughters Ann, Lidia, and Rodey Farrow, granddaughter Joanna Farrow. 
[Prince William Land Causes 1793-1811, p. 8-15 & 245, from abstract by William L. Hopkins in 
Some Wills from the Burned Counties of Virginia, p. 220] William Farrow and his brother 
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Abraham were granted land in Prince William County in 1731. [Northern Neck Grants, Book C, 
p. 201] 
 
3. Joseph Farrow, b. ca. 1742, Prince William Co., Va.; d. 1784, Loudoun Co., Va.; m. 
Elizabeth Masterson, b. ca. 1744. His will, dated 18 May 1781, probated 13 Apr. 1784, mentions 
wife Elizabeth, and children Mary Ann, Sarah, William (4), Thornton, Joseph, and Thomas 
Farrow. [Loudoun County Will Book C, p. 72-73, from abstract by Ruth and Sam Sparacio] 
Alexander Farrow is the head of a household in Loudoun County in 1761; with him are William 
and Joseph Farrow, both over 16, apparently his brothers named above. [Loudoun County, 
Virginia, Tithables, 1758-1786, by Marty Hiatt and Craig Roberts Scott (Iberian Pub. Co., 1995), 
p. 79] 
 
4. William Farrow, member of the Kentucky legislature, b. 1771, Va.; d. 1844, Fleming Co., 
Ky.; m. 1793, Fayette Co., Ky., Elizabeth Shore. 
 
5. Orson Dogan Farrow, b. 1805; m. 1829, Elizabeth O. Bruer.  
 
6. John B. Farrow, b. 1833, Ky.; m. 1857, Martha Jane Bramel, b. 1840, Ky.  
 
7. Samuel Tully Farrow, b. 1858, Mason Co., Ky.; d. 1916, Mason Co., Ky.; m. Louella 
Breckenridge Vanden, b. 1860, Mason Co., Ky.; d. 1935, Mason Co., Ky. 
 
8. Adelia Farrow, b. 1884, d. 1958; m. Michael J. Guilfoyle, b. 1876, d. 1928.  
 
9. Frances Marie Guilfoyle, b. 1909, d. 1973; m. Andrew Joseph Clooney, b. 1902; d. 1974.  
Their children: Rosemary (1928-2002), Betty (1931-1976), and Nicholas J. Clooney (b. 1934).  
 
10. Rosemary Clooney, singer and actress, b. 1928, Maysville, Ky.; d. 2002; m. (1953-61 and 
1963-67) Jose Ferrer (1912-1992), 7 children; m. 3rd (1997) Dante DiPaolo, b. 1926.  
 
10. Nicholas J. Clooney, broadcast journalist, b. 1934, m. Nina Bruce Warren. Their children: 
Ada (b. 1959) and George (b. 1961). 
 
11. George Clooney, actor, b. 1961, Lexington, Ky.; m. (1989-1992) Talia Balsam.  
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CORRECTION 
 
Prince William Reliquary, v. 2, no. 4 (Oct. 2003), pg. 87:  "British Mercantile Claims" 
Peyton, Timothy, monies due 1776, removed to KY and killed by Indians, claims of 
Cunningham (Falmouth), source: Virginia Genealogist, v. 21, p. 47. 


